

## **COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT**

Between

## Pendleton School District 16R

And

## Pendleton Association of Teachers

2025-2028

## Contents

PREAMBLE	3
ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION	3
ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT PREROGATIVES	3
ARTICLE 3 - NONDISCRIMINATION	
ARTICLE 4 - PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS	3
ARTICLE 5 -COMPENSATION	5
ARTICLE 6 - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	7
ARTICLE 7 - INSURANCE BENEFITS	8
ARTICLE 8 - LEAVE RIGHTS	10
ARTICLE 9 – TEACHING HOURS	18
ARTICLE 10 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	19
ARTICLE 11 - EARLY RETIREMENT	22
ARTICLE 12 - JUST CAUSE	23
ARTICLE 13 - VACANCIES AND IN-DISTRICT TRANSFERS	24
ARTICLE 14 - FUNDING	25
ARTICLE 15 - STAFF REDUCTION	25
ARTICLE 16 - COMPLAINT PROCEDURE	27
ARTICLE 17 - MAINTENANCE OF CLASSROOM CONTROL AND DISCIPLINE	
ARTICLE 18 - CONFIDENTIAL PERSONNEL FILES	28
ARTICLE 19 - WORK YEAR	29
ARTICLE 20 - TEACHER RIGHTS	29
ARTICLE 21 - PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT	30
ARTICLE 22 - CLASS SIZE	30
ARTICLE- 23 HEALTH AND SAFETY	31
ARTICLE 24 - SAVINGS CLAUSE	31
ARTICLE 25 - TERM OF AGREEMENT	32
APPENDIX "A" LICENSED SALARY SCHEDULE	33
APPENDIX "B" EXTRA DUTY SCHEDULE	36
APPENDIX C GRIEVANCE FORM	39

#### **PREAMBLE**

This Agreement is entered into this 1st day of July, 2025 by and between School District 16R, Umatilla County, Oregon, hereinafter called the "District" and the Pendleton Association of Teachers, affiliated with the OEA/NEA, hereinafter called the "Association."

#### **ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION**

- 1.1 The Board recognizes the Association as the sole and exclusive bargaining representatives for all licensed teaching personnel. Specifically excluded from the bargaining unit are, substitute teachers, supervisors, and any other person who is engaged at least (50% percent) of his/her time on the job in direct administration and/or supervision of professional personnel.
- 1.2 The Board is recognized as the duly elected representative of the people and the Association agrees to negotiate with the Board only through the negotiation agent or agents officially designated by the Board to act on its behalf.

#### ARTICLE 2 - MANAGEMENT PREROGATIVES

- 2.1 The District School Board, hereinafter called the "Board" has and will continue to retain the rights and responsibilities to operate and manage the school system and its programs, facilities, properties, and school-related activities of its employees.
- 2.2 The Association hereby recognizes the prerogative of the Board to operate and manage its affairs as directed by the Oregon Revised Statutes. As the employer in this contract, the Board retains all the function rights, powers or authority not specifically abridged, delegated, or modified by this Agreement.
- 2.3 Nothing in this Agreement shall limit in any way the District's contracting or subcontracting of work or shall require the District to continue in existence any of its present programs in its present form and/or location or on any other basis.

#### **ARTICLE 3 - NONDISCRIMINATION**

3.1 The Association and the District will abide by state and federal statutes and guidelines pertaining to non-discriminatory practice and conduct.

#### **ARTICLE 4 - PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS**

- 4.1 The District agrees to deduct from the salaries of its regular teachers, as requested by the teachers:
  - A. NEA, OEA, PAT dues
  - B. Premium for insurance programs approved by the Association and the District.
  - C. Contributions to United Way, Pendleton High School Scholarship Fund, Pendleton Foundation, Education Foundation of Pendleton, and OEA Foundation.
     It is understood that a minimum of five (5) members must enroll for contribution.
  - D. Tax-sheltered Annuities, Credit Union, Deferred Income Plans

#### 4.2. A. Dues Deduction Authorization

Prior to the first dues deduction of the school year, and then for any employee who becomes a member of the Association after the start of the school year, the Association shall notify PSD of bargaining unit members who have elected to have dues deducted from their paychecks and shall identify the dues to be deducted from each. The Association shall also notify PSD when a bargaining unit member should no longer have dues deducted. PSD shall enact dues deduction changes on the pay period following a notification.

## B. Processing PAT/OEA/NEA Dues Deductions

PAT/OEA/NEA dues deductions shall be made monthly in an amount equal to one-tenth (1/10) of annual dues, commencing with the month of October and continuing through the July pay period.

Deductions for employees who join the Association after the beginning of the school year shall be prorated on a twelve-month proration schedule.

## C. Remittance of Dues Checks

#### 1. Data to OEA

Within ten (10) days after each pay period, PSD shall send the Association an Excelcompatible register of the NEA/OEA/PAT dues, including voluntary Association contributions, deducted from each member's paycheck.

## 2. Payment to OEA

Within ten (10) days after each pay period, PSD shall send to OEA, in a single payment, the combined NEA and OEA dues, including voluntary Association contributions, deducted for the month.

#### 3. Payment to PAT

The PAT dues payment will be paid separately from OEA/NEA dues and shall be remitted to the PAT Treasurer.

#### D. Indemnification

The Association agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold the District harmless from employee or former-employee claims, orders, or judgments against the district concerning the dues deductions procedures outlined in this agreement. The Association's obligations are contingent upon the District: 1) giving the Association at least two-week's notice, in writing, of any claim; 2) and fully cooperating with the Association and its designated counsel in the defense of the claim. The Association's obligation does not extend to criminal allegations or District conduct that would constitute an Unfair Labor Practice. In the event the District properly invokes this paragraph, the Association will provide the attorney to defend against the claim. In the event the District wishes to use its own attorney, the District will pay the fees and costs of said attorney.

## 4.3 A. Employee Information

#### 1. Employee List

By the last business day of August, December, and April of each year PSD shall provide to the OEA Membership Specialist an Excel-compatible database of each employee in the bargaining unit (both active members and non-members) that includes the employee ID, date of birth, first date of service, FTE, classification or title, worksite, position on the salary schedule, residential address, and residential phone number. Whenever a new employee is hired into the bargaining unit, PSD shall provide the above information within thirty (30) days of hire.

#### 2. Change in Employment Status

PSD shall promptly notify the OEA Membership Specialist whenever an employee in the bargaining unit is placed on an unpaid leave of absence, retires, is laid off, resigns, or changes their name.

#### **ARTICLE 5 - COMPENSATION**

- 5.1 The compensation increase for the 2025-2026 school year will be 5% above the 2024-2025 salary schedule. (See Appendix 'A'). The compensation increase for the 2026-2027 school year will be 4% above the 2025-2026 salary schedule. (See Appendix 'A'). The compensation increase for the 2027-2028 school year will be 4.0% above the 2026-2027 School Year salary schedule. (See Appendix 'A')
- 5.2 The extra-duty schedule for teachers is attached to this Agreement as Appendix 'B' and by this reference is incorporated herein.
  - A. Any formal activity, whether currently being offered or not, may be proposed to be included or modified in the Extra Duty Schedule. When an employee believes his/her after-school activity should be included on the Extra Duty Schedule, they may submit an Extra Duty Review application to Human Resources for consideration by March 10th. A review will be conducted by a four member committee comprised of District employees. Two members will be selected by the Association and two selected by the superintendent, or designee. The committee's decision will be based on information provided by the employee and the District. A majority vote confirming the request shall result in one of two outcomes:
    - a. the activity will not be included on the Extra Duty Schedule; or
    - b. the activity will be included on the Extra Duty Schedule effective the following school year.

The decision of the review committee will be final. No employee may request more than one review per activity per contract term and no more than two reviews total per contract term.

## 5.3 Initial Salary Schedule Placement

When hired, teachers shall be awarded full credit for prior teaching experience requiring licensure. For teachers new to the District, initial placement on the District salary schedule requires an Oregon TSPC license. College units presented to advance horizontally on the salary schedule must have been completed after the date of receiving a bachelor's degree. This article is not retroactive.

#### 5.4 Salary Schedule Advancement

If a teacher completes the necessary credits for advancement to a higher education level on the compensation schedule, an adjustment in placement on the schedule, to be effective in the subsequent school year, will be made only if the teacher notifies the District in writing by February 1<sup>st</sup>. Proper verification of having successfully completed the additional work must be presented by August 31st. A TSPC licensed teacher may advance on the salary schedule after meeting any of the following criteria:

- A. By completing the upper division or graduate level course work approved in advance by Human Resources Department and relevant to TSPC endorsement(s), teaching assignment, or district established need.
- B. Upon completion of a district pre-approved professional growth or training activity for which in-district established credit is granted by the District. Such activity may include training and/or classes provided by the private sector. Ten hours of CPDU equals one in-district credit up to 100 hours per year.

- C. By completion of accredited college class work at a college acceptable to TSPC and for additional TSPC endorsement(s) and/or licensure.
- D. Approval or denial of proposed training will occur within ten (10) working days of submittal.
- 5.5 The Association and the District mutually agree to the following process in cases involving the denial of credits for movement across the salary schedule. The district human resources administrator will be responsible for approving credits. If the teacher is unhappy with that decision, he/she may appeal to a committee composed of the superintendent, a teacher appointed by the superintendent, and a teacher appointed by the Pendleton Association of Teachers. The decision of the committee will be final.
- 5.6 In the event of a situation beyond the control of the District, which requires the closing of one or more of all the schools, the school year may be extended to compensate for the number of days lost in such school or schools, at the discretion of the District, with no additional pay in excess of the teacher's yearly contracted salary nor forfeiture of pay.
- 5.7 All eligible employees covered under this agreement shall pay an amount equal to six percent (6%) of their gross salary to the Public Employee's Retirement System.

## 5.8 Longevity:

- A. A longevity stipend will be added to a teacher's base salary following ten (10) years of service to the District. This stipend will be increased after fifteen (15) years, twenty (20), twenty-five (25) years of service, and thirty (30) years of service. The values of these stipends will be listed on the compensation schedule for teachers (Appendix A). Any such payment shall be prorated in accordance with full-time equivalency per Appendix A. Payments will be made in June of the respective years.
- B. Longevity Bonus: Any teacher who reaches the final vertical step, over the term of the contract, of columns five (5), six (6), and seven (7) of the salary schedule will receive a one-time payment (See Appendix A) to be included in their final balance of contract check. A teacher can only receive this bonus payment once during the term of the contract. Any such payment shall be prorated in accordance with full-time equivalency per Appendix A. Payments will be made in June of the respective years.
- C. During the school years 2025-2028 each longevity stipend and longevity bonus increases. For the 2025-2026 school year increases 5% above the 2024-2025 salary schedule. (See Appendix 'A'). The compensation increase for the 2026-2027 school year will be 4% above the 2025-2026 salary schedule. (See Appendix 'A'). The compensation increase for the 2027-2028 school year will be 4.0% above the 2026-2027 School Year salary schedule. (See Appendix 'A')
- D. For purposes of this section, the "longevity" stipend shall be applied for those association members with ten (10), fifteen (15), twenty (20), twenty-five (25) and thirty (30) years of continuous employment with the Pendleton School District.
- E. For purposes of this section, continuous shall mean employment in successive years for the eligible amount of time.
- F. Employees "longevity" shall start over if they break service from the district and then later return back to the district.
- G. Employees who take an approved leave of absence shall not lose their continuous employment status.

- H. Employees who are displaced due to a reduction in force (RIF) shall not lose their continuous employment status if they are hired back by the district as long as they maintain eligibility in the RIF pool.
- 5.9 Curriculum Writing: The District and Association agree it is important to keep interruptions to classroom activities to a minimum. When it is necessary for teachers to work on curriculum development activities or writing projects with district approval, it is preferred these activities be scheduled during periods when schools are not in session. Compensation for teachers working on writing or curriculum projects during periods when schools are not in session, shall be at the per diem rate.
- 5.10 Special Education Stipend: In addition to their regular salary compensation, full-time special education teachers will be paid an annual \$1,500 stipend. Part-time special education teachers shall receive a prorated portion of the stipend. Special education teachers will have one additional contract day (at their per diem rate) to work on training and in-service annually in the month of August.
- 5.11 A total of \$3,000 will be set aside annually to pay teachers for an elementary academic enrichment program. A total of \$2000 will be set aside annually to pay teachers for a secondary academic enrichment program. Teachers will be paid an hourly wage at the high substitute rate. The program must take place outside of the regular school day and must receive pre-approval by the Building Administrator and the District Office. Funds will be prorated to buildings that are approved based on enrollment.
- 5.12 Salaries for employees scheduled to work 187 days, approximately ten (10) months of the year, shall be divided into twelve (12) equal payments paid on a September through August year. Employees may arrange one of the following methods of payment:
  - A. Direct Deposit to an approved banking institution.
  - B. Mailing
  - C. Personal "Pick-Up"

#### **ARTICLE 6 - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS**

- 6.1 Inter-school mail facilities and District email may be used for distribution of Association communications so long as such communications are labeled as Association materials and contain the name of the authorizing Association official. Provided the District acts in accordance with the above, the Association shall hold the District harmless against any suits brought against the District as a result of the Association's use of such facilities.
- 6.2 School facilities and equipment may be used for Association meetings at reasonable times provided that such meetings and equipment use shall not interfere with the normal school operations. The Association shall pay the reasonable costs of all materials and supplies incidental to such use and for any repairs to equipment necessitated as a result thereof.
- 6.3 Upon request, the District shall furnish to the Association information reasonably available for its use as exclusive bargaining representative. The District will also distribute copies of all Board meeting minutes to attendance units and the Association president immediately after their preparation. In addition, materials made available to the news media and the general public shall be provided the Association president prior to the meeting or at the meeting, if not available before that time.

6.4 The Association President will provide the District with a list Designated Association Representatives at the beginning of each school year.

Designated Association Representatives shall be granted reasonable paid time to perform Association duties during regular scheduled work hours without loss in pay, benefits, leave accrual, or seniority. The District will grant the Association and its members a total of twenty (20) days leave for Association business, including, but not limited to, the Oregon Education Association Representative Assembly. Said leave shall be under the exclusive control of the Pendleton Association of Teachers subject to availability of substitutes. The Association will pay for the cost of the substitute.

- 6.5 Association building representatives and officers will be excused with notification to the building administrator to attend meetings held before or after school as long as the meetings do not interfere with student contact time or assigned duties.
- 6.6 The Association shall have the right to conduct meetings at employee work locations before or after regular work hours or during meal periods. The Association shall inform the building administration of the time and place of the meeting. The meetings will not interfere with the District's operations. The Association shall have the right to conduct meetings without undue interference.
- 6.7 The Association shall have the right to meet with new employees for up to one hour during New Staff Orientation or within 20 days of hire if hired mid-year.

#### **ARTICLE 7 - INSURANCE BENEFITS**

7.1 Beginning September 1, 2025 and throughout the term of the contract, the District shall pay the cost of the employee insurance benefits "unit cost" for insurance premiums as follows:

The District's contribution for insurance premiums for medical, dental, vision, and orthodontia coverage will be:

```
For Sept. 1, 2025- August 31, 2026: $1910.00 per month
For Sept. 1, 2026- August 31, 2027: $1960.00 per month
For Sept. 1, 2027- August 31, 2028: $2010.00 per month
```

The employee is responsible for the cost of the premium that exceeds the District's contribution.

The Pendleton Association of Teachers may select coverage from an available insurance carrier offered by OEBB. Insurance will include medical, dental, vision, and orthodontia care to be selected from individual plans provided by the approved carrier. The premium is to be calculated using the unit rate.

For those employees working less than full-time the District's contribution for insurance premiums shall be pro-rated. Employees working less than half-time are not eligible for health insurance coverage.

Regardless of the plan selected, the District's required monthly contribution shall not exceed that expressed above.

In the event the amount paid by the District for the purchase of health insurance for each eligible employee is less than the actual cost of that insurance, then each affected employee shall pay the difference through payroll deduction.

Subject to the rules and regulations of the insurance carrier, the Oregon Educator Benefits Board (OEBB) and the Internal Revenue Service (state and federal), eligible employees who choose health insurance plans with a total monthly premium cost that is less than the District's contribution, will receive the difference between the actual premium cost and the employee's maximum District contribution as a contribution toward a Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) for which the employee is qualified and eligible unless such contribution would create disadvantageous tax consequences for the District or the employee.

Subject to the rules and regulations of the insurance carrier, OEBB, and the IRS, eligible employees who maintain and provide proof of another medical benefit plan may opt-out of District sponsored health insurance coverage. Employees who opt-out of health insurance coverage, and who are otherwise eligible for a District contribution toward insurance premiums, shall receive 35% of the current District insurance contribution, as outlined above, as a contribution toward a District sponsored Health Reimbursement Arrangement (HRA) as long as such contribution would not create disadvantageous tax consequences for the District or the employee.

Eligible employees who do not maintain and provide proof annually of another employer sponsored group medical plan will not be permitted to opt-out of the District sponsored group insurance coverage.

Subject to the rules and regulations of the insurance carrier, the Oregon Educator Benefits Board (OEBB) and the Internal Revenue Service (state and federal), eligible employees who choose an IRS defined high deductible health plan (HDHP) with a total monthly premium cost that is less than the District's contribution, will receive the difference between the actual premium cost and the employee's maximum District contribution as a contribution toward a Health Savings Account (HSA) the employee is qualified and eligible unless such contribution would create disadvantageous tax consequences for the District or the employee.

- 7.2 The District further will pay the premium cost for Term Life for \$50,000 for the employee only.
- 7.3 The employee will pay the premium cost for short term and/or long term disability Insurance. Participation in this program is optional.
- 7.4 The insurance benefits for the employee and all eligible dependents shall begin with the first day of contracted employment, provided the employee has met waiting time requirements established by the carrier and has completed and signed the necessary form(s).
- 7.5 The benefit program(s) identified herein shall be provided only in accordance with the underwriting rules and regulations as set forth by the carrier(s) in the policy (policies) retained by the policyholder.

In spite of any statements in this Agreement to the contrary, nothing shall change the interpretations, meanings, or intent of the provisions of the insurance contracts between the Board and the insurance carriers.

The District will not be obligated and shall not pay for any medical and/or dental expenses not covered by the insurance carrier(s). Such expenses shall be the sole obligation of the employee(s) incurring them.

#### 7.6 Ending Coverage:

- A. If an employee's employment is terminated prior to the end of his/her contract, insurance coverage shall cease as of the last day of the last month the employee is employed, except that disability income insurance is terminated on the last day of employment.
- B. If the employee's employment is terminated at the end of his/her contract or between the end of his/her contract and the beginning of the ensuing school year, the District's payment of premiums shall continue through the month of August, except that disability income insurance shall terminate on July 31.
- 7.7 The District shall act to update any mandated coverage or changes caused by state or federal government, and may, at the District's discretion, make changes to take advantage of any liberalization made available by the insurance carriers because of experience, pooling of risks, investments gains, etc.; however, the level of benefits shall not be decreased.
- 7.8 The District does not guarantee against unilateral changes in benefits initiated solely by the insurance carriers (companies).
- 7.9 The District shall provide the enrollment, bookkeeping, and billing, and any other service necessary to cause payment to be made in a timely manner. Billing and accounting procedures required for the management of the insurance benefit program must be acceptable to the District.
- 7.10 Any employee terminating his/her employment with the District shall, if eligible, have the option of continuing participation in the insurance benefit program in accordance with COBRA law.
- 7.11 The District will provide a Section 125 Plan with the District paying administrative costs of the Plan.

#### **ARTICLE 8 - LEAVE RIGHTS**

## 8.1 PAID LEAVES

In accordance with board policy, the district will comply with all provisions of the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), the Oregon Family Leave Act (OFLA), and Paid Family Medical Leave Act (PFMLA). In addition, teachers shall be entitled to the following temporary leaves of absence with full pay each school year:

- A. Sick Leave is provided all teachers who are absent because of personal illness or medical appointments in accordance with the provisions and reservations listed below.
  - 1. All teachers shall be granted ten (10) days sick leave during each school year accrued at one (1) day per month. Teachers working less than a full day shall accumulate sick leave on a percentage basis. Such sick leave shall be credited to said teachers on the first contract day of the fall semester. In case of teachers who begin service after the beginning of the school year, sick leave shall be credited on the first day of active teaching service and shall consist of one (1) day for each payroll month remaining in the teacher contract year. Sick leave may be used as necessary as long it does not exceed accrued days by the end of the year. If the days used do exceed accrued days, payment for the extra days will be deducted from the final check.
  - 2. Total sick leave accumulation for any member will be unlimited.

- 3. A teacher who has accumulated sick leave during employment with other Oregon districts shall upon proper verification be allowed to transfer the accumulated leave in accordance with Oregon statues.
- 4. Members of the Association will be allowed to share their accrued sick leave with other Association members according to the following guidelines should there be a need.
  - a. Each Association member may donate up to two (2) days of said employee's sick leave from previous years for each request made by the Association on behalf of a member. Days will be donated in one (1) day increments.
  - b. Such donations are completely voluntary.
  - c. To be eligible to receive donated sick leave, a current employee must be absent from work because of an injury or illness to the employee that prevents the employee from working. The district may request medical verification of this determination prior to approving leave requests.
  - d. The receiving employee must not be eligible for, or be receiving, any district paid leave, worker's compensation benefits, PERS or social security disability benefits or long term disability insurance benefits.
  - e. An employee may not receive more than 60 days of donated sick leave during a 12 month period.
  - f. Specific decisions as to employee eligibility will be made by mutual agreement between the Association and the District as per items 3 and 4 above.
  - g. The requests for days will be managed by the Association.

## B. Family Leave

- 1. All teachers shall receive no more than five (5) days leave per school year with pay in case of illness or injury of a spouse or children. This leave may be utilized to care for other family members provided it is essential for the health or welfare of the family member that the teacher be released. For purposes of this section, "other family members" are defined as parents, step-parents and in-laws, brothers and sisters and in-laws, grandparents, grandchildren, or members of the immediate household.
- 2. In the event the teacher has used all of their family leave and personal leave they may apply to the Superintendent or designee to use up to two (2) days of their personal illness leave for a member of the immediate family.
- C. Bereavement Leave will be allowed up to five (5) days per school year upon the death of friend or family member. Extension of this leave shall be determined by the Superintendent or his designee upon request. The denial of a request for an extension may be appealed to the Board.
- D. Jury Duty and Legal Leave of absence will be granted as required for jury duty, job-related legal hearings, and court appearances under subpoena, with the exception of personal suits or proceedings against the District.
- E. Professional Leave for teachers to visit other schools, attend educational assemblies or other meetings in the interest of the District may be authorized by the building principal or immediate supervisor.

Elementary Special Education Teachers will receive one-half day of Professional Leave per month for consultation and case management. Half days may be combined to take one full day, not to be used consecutively.

#### F. Personal Leave

- 1. Each employee shall be granted two (2) days of personal leave per year cumulative to five (5) days with full pay. Personal leave will be granted to part-time employees based on their FTE. Leave cannot be taken in less than half-day increments.
- 2. The employee shall request in writing through his or her immediate supervisor, at least three (3) school days in advance of the anticipated absence, approval for being absent so a substitute may be obtained if required. The employee shall state the time and date that he or she will be absent from the job. The employee is not required to state a reason for the absence.

In emergency situations the three (3) day notice may be waived by the immediate supervisor. The immediate supervisor shall give the employee written notice of approval or denial.

Personal leave will be granted only if a qualified substitute is available. In the event that personal leave has been approved and illness or other unforeseen building emergencies exist which eliminates the number of qualified substitutes available, the principal may cancel previously approved personal leave request only after exhausting steps listed in the Sub Shortage Letter of Agreement and Article 9.8.

3. Personal leave shall not be taken on in-service days (except during teacher work time), the first or last student day of school, or during regularly scheduled conference times without prior Human Resource Department approval.

Cash-out Option – Employees having not used their Personal Leave at the end of the school year may elect to cash-out up to five (5) days of their accumulated leave at the rate of \$200 per day. Employees requesting this option must notify the District by June 1st.

- G. Emergency Leave may be allowed by the Superintendent or designee upon request for absence due to unforeseen emergencies beyond the control of the teacher, provided personal leave or family leave days are not appropriate to cover the emergency.
- H. Absences Because of Illness or Injury

The absence of an employee because of illness or accident for which he/she received compensation from the district Worker's Compensation Insurance carrier shall be considered as sick leave. Such compensation for the time lost (but not disability settlements) shall be deducted from sick leave compensation paid to the employee by the Pendleton School District. However, the amount of sick leave time charged against the employee's sick leave account shall be only that portion of each day for which the employee is actually compensated by the district. The employee may choose not to receive district compensation and if no compensation is given from the district, then no sick leave shall be expended.

#### I. Sabbatical Leave

Upon the recommendation of the Superintendent, the Board may permit members of the professional staff to take sabbatical leaves for the purpose of self-improvement and benefit to the school system through study and research. The primary consideration in granting leave will be the benefit to the students of Pendleton School District 16R. A secondary consideration will be the professional improvement of the staff member.

The number of leaves granted in any one (1) year shall be determined by the Board based upon the amount of money budgeted for that purpose and approval of the annual operating levy.

1. Employment Requirements and Length of Leaves

MINIMUM CONSECUTIVE YEARS OF SERVICE LENGTH OF LEAVE SINCE EMPLOYMENT OR LAST LEAVE

14 YEARS OF SERVICE year at full salary

7 YEARS OF SERVICE year at half salary or quarters or one semester at full salary plus\school and living allowance.

3 YEARS OF SERVICE One quarter at full salary plus school and living allowances.

### 2. Applications

- a. Applications for leaves during the first semester must be in the Superintendent's office no later than the first day of the preceding February. Applications for leaves during the second semester must be in the superintendent's office no later than the first school day of the preceding September.
- b. Leaves may be initiated by the individual staff member or the school administrator.

## 3. Activities, General

- a. The leave applicant must submit, in writing, a plan of study which shall include:
  - (1) A statement of the objectives of the course of study and how this will be beneficial to the students of the District.
  - (2) A description of the course of study planned. This course of study must meet objectives described in Number 1.
  - (3) The name of the institution where the study is planned. One (1) alternate institution must be named.

Any variation from the approved program must have the prior consent of the Superintendent.

Upon approval of the leave program, it is the responsibility of the staff member to see that it is fulfilled as planned. If this is not done, the leave may be cancelled by the Board upon recommendation of the Superintendent. Any money received must be repaid in full.

- b. Time on leave shall apply as service time to the District for the purpose of increment, sick leave, and credit on the salary schedule, and other fringe benefits that are extended to licensed personnel of the District.
- c. All activities for which leaves are granted must be planned in consultation with the superintendent.
- d. Outside activities in which staff members engage for pay during the regular school year may be continued, but not expanded during the period of leave.
- e. Staff members, while on leaves, may be employed to do work for the school system, at the request of the Superintendent.
- f. Leaves will not be granted for the purpose of engaging in gainful occupation or for the purpose of studying for a trade or another profession.
- 4. Leaves Granted at Full Salary

The following activities will be considered appropriate. They are listed in order of preference, although the needs of the school system and of the particular staff member applying for leave will be considered in each case:

- a. Formal graduate study in any area that will provide the applicant with skills beneficial to the students of the Pendleton Public Schools.
  - (1) This might be to improve skills in an existing program or to develop skills for a new program.
  - (2) This could be to develop supervisory skills.
- b. The study may be in courses for which formal college credit is granted, or in courses which are audited. Writing of a thesis will be considered as a secondary part of the program of study and should not be considered as part of the requirement listed.
- c. Independent research undertaken in consultation with the Superintendent.
- 5. Short-term Leaves Granted at Full Salary Plus School and Living Allowances When leave is granted for a quarter or semester during the regular school year, excluding the summer term, the following procedures will be followed:
  - a. The person receiving leave shall receive his/her regular salary plus school and living allowance. The school and living allowance is received to offset school expense and living expense. The formula is to be set by the Board and adjusted as costs fluctuate, based on current costs of the institution to be attended.

- b. The activities that may be appropriate for short-term leaves will be:
  - (1) On-campus study. This study is to meet the qualifications stated in Section C.
  - (2) Independent research undertaken in consultation with the Superintendent.
- c. Writing of a thesis will not be considered as part of a short-term leave.
- 6. Leaves Granted at Half Salary, or Two Quarters or One Semester at Full Salary Plus School and Living Allowance

The following activities will be considered appropriate. They are listed in order of general preference, although the needs of the school system and the particular staff member applying for leave will be considered in each case. (See Section C, Activities, General)

- a. Formal graduate study in an area that will provide applicant with skills beneficial to the students of the Pendleton Public Schools.
  - (1) This may be to improve skills in an existing program or to develop skills for a new program.
  - (2) This could be to develop supervisory skills.
- b. The study may be in courses where formal college credit is granted, or in courses which are audited. Writing of a thesis will be considered as a secondary part of the program of study and should not be considered as part of the requirement listed.
- c. Independent research undertaken in consultation with the Superintendent.
- d. Schedule of visitations involving travel planned in consultation with the Superintendent, meeting qualifications listed under Section C.

### 7. Granting of Leave

First consideration will be given to those sabbatical leave plans which involve the greatest benefit to the school system and greatest self-improvement of the staff member. A secondary consideration will be the seniority of the staff member applying for leave.

#### 8. Reporting of Activities

- a. A written and/or oral statement (report) will be required of the returnee upon fulfillment of the leave objectives.
- b. A plan of follow-up is to be made upon fulfillment of the leave objectives. (See Section J)

c. A college transcript will be required where applicable to the leave.

#### 9. Obligations

Before beginning the sabbatical leave, the teacher shall enter into a written contract to return to active service in the Pendleton Public Schools for a period of at least three (3) consecutive years after the expiration of such leave. A teacher who does not perform this agreement will be required to return to School District 16R one-third of the salary paid him/her while on sabbatical leave for each year remaining of the obligation. However, the teacher shall be released from such payment if his/her failure to serve the three (3) years as stipulated is due to his/her illness, disability or death, or if the teacher is discharged by the Board.

#### 10. Implementation of Leave Benefits

Upon granting of leave, the Board should recognize its inherent responsibility that it may be necessary to set aside a sum of money which will be used in the implementation of the program of the returning recipient, the amount to be determined on the following basis:

- a. That it is necessary to fulfill the approved objectives of the leave.
- b. That it is necessary for the District to gain the full benefit from the knowledge and skills gained while on leave.
- c. The person receiving leave shall agree to be available to set up demonstration projects, serve as a resource person for in-service programs, provide leadership in program development, etc., if this is felt desirable by the Board.

## 8.2 LEAVES WITHOUT PAY

#### A. Family Care Leave

- 1. A family care leave shall be granted upon request without pay, to any regularly employed staff member who has been employed one (1) year or more.
- 2. A request for family care leave and the length of time requested must be submitted to the Superintendent sixty (60) days in advance of the date said leave is to commence.
- 3. The leave shall be granted for the remainder of the school year and may be granted for one additional year if requested and approved by the Board of Education.
- 4. Such leaves will be granted for the birth or adoption of a child by an employee, or to care for seriously ill or injured family member or child. For purposes of this leave, "family member" shall be defined as spouse, parent, parent-in-law, sibling, sibling-in-law, grandparent, grandchild or other individual permanently residing in the employee's household.

#### B. Military Leave

- 1. Military leave shall be granted to any regularly appointed teacher who is inducted or enlists for military duty with any branch of the Armed Forces of the United States.
- 2. Leaves shall be granted to teachers serving in the Oregon National Guard or any other U.S. Military Reserve component for declared alerts or emergencies requiring their service.
- 3. Teachers on military leave shall be given the benefit of all increments and sick leave allowances which would have been credited to them had they remained on contract with the school system.
- 4. The Board may give or withhold increments or deny extension of leave to those electing to remain in military service beyond the required time.

## C. Professional Study Leave

A leave of absence of up to one (1) year may be granted to any teacher, upon application, for the purpose of engaging in study at an accredited college or university reasonably related to his/her professional responsibilities.

This leave of absence may include participating in exchange teaching programs in other states, territories or countries in a program related to the teacher's professional responsibility, provided said teacher states his/her intention to return to the school system. Upon return from such leave, a teacher shall be placed at the same position on the salary schedule as he/she would have been had he/she taught in the District during such period.

#### D. Association Leave

A leave of absence of up to two (2) years shall be granted to any teacher, upon application, for the purpose of serving as an officer of the OEA/NEA or on its staff. Upon return from such leave such teachers shall be placed at the same position on the salary schedule as they would have been had they taught in the system during such period.

#### E. Extended Illness

A leave of absence of up to one (1) year may be granted upon request for extended illness.

## F. Return from Leave

- 1. All benefits to which a teacher was entitled at the time of leave of absence commenced, including seniority, unused accumulated sick leave and credits toward sabbatical eligibility, shall be restored to the teacher upon his/her return, and the teacher shall be assigned to the same or substantially equal position which the teacher held at the time said leave commenced. During the terms of leave granted pursuant to 1 through 5 of this Section, the Board shall provide the employee the option of continuing in any fringe benefits program available, provided, however, the employee pays the employee's own premiums.
- 2. Teachers planning to return to the District in the fall following a leave of absence shall notify the District in writing by the preceding April 15. Those planning to return for the second semester shall notify the District by the preceding October 15. Failure to

notify the District by the required date may be considered a resignation and the District may declare the position vacant and seek a suitable replacement.

- G. Requested Unpaid Leave: Leave may be allowed by the Superintendent or his/her designee upon written request according to the following guidelines:
  - 1. The request is to be made at least five (5) working days in advance of the first date of the requested leave, unless emergency circumstances preclude such notice.
  - 2. No unpaid leave is allowed without prior approval except that associated with OFLA/FMLA and/or Workers' Compensation eligible leave.
  - 3. There is no right to unpaid leave and approval is not a guarantee of future approval.
  - 4. Unpaid leave will be approved only for reasons deemed unavoidable or necessary due to events beyond the employee's control. The main intent is to include such activities as weddings, funerals, emergencies, graduations, special honors or award presentations, though the leave may include recreational activities.
  - 5. Employees are strongly advised not to make preparations for an unpaid leave (such as purchase tickets or make other reservations) prior to notice of approval.
  - 6. All applicable paid leave must be used prior to unpaid leave.

#### ARTICLE 9 – TEACHING HOURS

- 9.1 The workday for full-time teachers shall consist of seven and three-quarters (7.75) hours on Monday through Friday. Each building will establish a standard schedule for the teacher work day between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 3:45 p.m. This schedule will be mutually agreed upon between staff and administration.
- 9.2 Teachers shall be provided a minimum one-half hour duty-free lunch period within the workday outlined in 9.1. Teachers may leave the building without requesting permission during their scheduled duty-free lunch period. Teachers working less than two-thirds time of a full-time teacher may be provided with a duty-free period; however, this shall be in addition to their regular assigned duty time.
- 9.3 The workday for teachers employed less than full-time shall be based on an equivalent portion of the workday for full-time teachers.
  - Teachers who wish to job share shall submit a request by February 1<sup>st</sup> to the superintendent or designee. If teachers and the district agree, a job share may be entered into.
- 9.4 The Monday schedule will include a one hour late start for students to provide an extended period of time (approximately one hour) before the student day for teachers to meet collaboratively. Two Mondays may be dedicated to work in Professional Learning Communities. One Monday may be used as district initiative work time.
- 9.5 Secondary full time teachers will be contracted for up to eight (8) periods. Assignments will include the equivalent of one preparation period per day per week and may include: up to 6 teaching periods, 1 supervision period and/or 1 tutorial/advisory period. A meeting with department members and the principal will occur to identify specific needs and options for dealing with teaching assignments.
  - The elementary teachers (grades K-5) of Pendleton School District 16R shall receive a total of 180 minutes of preparation time per week with specialists (in 30 minute minimum blocks) during the

student contact day. Full-time pre-kindergarten teachers will receive 180 minutes of preparation time between their two daily sessions per week.

The intent of preparation time during the student contact day is for teacher planning.

- 9.6 Building administrators will limit staff meetings to one (1) meeting per month. This meeting will take place during PLC time and/or scheduled in-service time.
- 9.7 It is the intent of the District to provide substitutes for elementary specialists in the areas of physical education, library and media, and music whenever possible. Specialists will provide lesson plans for substitutes and aides.
- 9.8 The District may ask an individual teacher to voluntarily agree to cover a class in lieu of their preparation period. The District shall reimburse a teacher who has agreed to substitute for another teacher during his/her preparation time at the Teacher Per Diem Rate. (See Letter of Agreement dated TBD through 6/30/2028 related to substitute shortage)
- 9.9 Travel time of 15 minutes will be provided to teachers traveling between two sites during the school day.
- 9.10 The Association and the District agree that the health and safety of students is the responsibility of all staff members whenever students are present at school. Nothing in this Section 9 is intended to interfere with a teacher's responsibility to take immediate action whenever student conduct requires correction or disciplinary action.

#### ARTICLE 10 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 10.1 The purpose of this procedure is to provide an orderly method for resolving grievances. A determined effort shall be made to settle any such differences at the lowest possible level in the grievance procedure. Meetings or discussions involving grievances or these procedures shall not interfere with teaching duties or classroom instruction.
  - A standard Pendleton Public Schools grievance form shall be used to process grievances under the provisions of Section 10, Grievance Procedure. This grievance form is incorporated herein and made a part of this Agreement as Appendix C.
- 10.2 For the purpose of this Agreement, a grievance is defined as a claim by the teacher, teachers, or the Association, based upon the interpretation, application or violation of this Agreement affecting a teacher or group of teachers, or the Association. Any teacher, group of teachers, or the Association having a grievance shall be hereinafter knows as the "Aggrieved."
- 10.3 Grievances will be processed in the following manner and within the stated time limits:
  - Step 1: The Aggrieved shall within (30) business days after the facts upon which the grievance is based first occur or first become known to the aggrieved, attempt to resolve the grievance in an informal meeting between the Aggrieved and his or her principal. The grievance may be resolved as a result of this meeting. If the grievance is not resolved at the informal level, it shall be prepared in writing and submitted to the principal. If the Aggrieved does not submit the grievance to the principal in writing in accordance with Step 1, within thirty (30) business days after the informal meeting with the principal, the grievance will be deemed waived. The Aggrieved may

be accompanied by one (1) other member of the Association when presenting the written grievance.

Note: "Business Days" are those workdays that the School District is open for "business", excluding school holidays and normal vacation periods such as Round-Up, Christmas break and Spring break.

The principal will reply in writing to the Aggrieved with a copy to the Association within ten (10) business days after receipt of the written grievance. If written response is not made within ten (10) business days, Aggrieved may go on to the next step.

- Step 2. If the grievance is not settled in Step 1, and the Aggrieved wishes to appeal the grievance to Step 2, the Aggrieved may file the grievance in writing to the Superintendent within ten (10) business days after receipt of the principal's written answer or if response time has elapsed. The written grievance shall give a clear and concise statement of the alleged grievance including the act or omission upon which the grievance is based, the issue involved, the Agreement provisions involved and the relief sought. The Superintendent or his/her representative shall thoroughly review the grievance, arrange to meet with the Aggrieved, or his/her representative, for necessary discussions, and give a written answer to the Aggrieved stating the reasons for his decision with a copy to the Association no later than ten (10) business days after receipt of the grievance. If written response is not made within ten (10) business days, Aggrieved may go on to Step 3.
- Step 3: Grievances not settled in Step 2 of the grievance procedure may be appealed to arbitration provided:
  - A. Written notice of a request for arbitration is made to the Superintendent within ten (10) business days of receipt of his answer in Step 2.
  - B. The issue must have involved the interpretation, meaning or administration of a specific provision(s) of the Agreement.

When a timely request has been made for arbitration, the parties or their designated representatives shall attempt to select an impartial arbitrator. Failing to do so, they shall within ten (10) business days of the appeal, jointly request the Oregon Employment Relations Board to submit a list of five (5) arbitrators. As soon as the list has been received, the parties or the designated representatives shall determine by lot the order of elimination and thereafter each shall, in that order, alternately strike a name from the list and the fifth and remaining name shall act as the arbitrator. The parties and arbitrator shall be bound by the Voluntary Arbitration Rules of the AAA (American Arbitration Association).

The arbitrator so selected shall confer with the representatives of the District and the Association and hold hearings promptly and shall issue his/her decision not later than twenty (20) business days from the date of the close of the hearings, or, if oral hearings have been mutually waived, then from the date of which final statements and proofs on the issues are submitted to him/her. The arbitrator's decision shall be in writing and shall set forth his/her findings of fact, reasoning and conclusions of the issues submitted. The arbitrator shall be

without power or authority to make any decision which requires the commission of an act prohibited by law or which is violative of the terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall be without power to add to, delete from, or otherwise modify the language of the collective bargaining agreement. The decision of the arbitrator shall be submitted to the District and the Association and shall be final and binding on the parties.

10.4 The District and the Association will share equally any joint costs of the arbitration procedure, such as the fee and expense of the arbitrator and the costs of the hearing room.

## 10.5 Right of teachers to representation

A. Any aggrieved person may be represented at all stages of the grievance procedure by himself/herself, an Association Representative, or by a representative of his/her choice.

### B. Reprisals

No reprisal of any kind shall be taken by the Board or any member of the Administration against any party in interest, any representative, any member of the Association or any other participant in the grievance procedure by reason of such participation.

#### 10.6 Miscellaneous

## A. Group Grievance

If, in the judgment of the Association, a grievance affects a group or class of teachers, the Association may submit such grievance in writing to the Superintendent and processing of such grievance will be commenced at Step 2.

B. If a grievance arises from action or inaction on the part of a member of the administration at a level above the principal or immediate superior, the Aggrieved will submit such grievance in writing directly to the Superintendent and processing of such grievance will be commenced at Step 2.

## C. Separate Grievance File

All documents, communications and records dealing with the processing of a grievance shall be filed in a separate grievance file and shall not be placed in the personnel file of any of the participants.

## D. Meetings and Hearings

Meetings and hearings under this procedure shall not be conducted in public except at the option of the Aggrieved and shall include only such parties of interest and their designated representatives, consultant personnel, and resource people.

10.7 Concerns with implementation of board policies may be addressed through the complaint procedure currently in existence as a part of District policy.

#### ARTICLE 11 - EARLY RETIREMENT

The District and the Association agree that early retirement may be a viable option for some teachers. Early retirement is available to teachers who were employed by the district prior to December 31, 2013 and are eligible to retire under P.E.R.S. Benefits paid by the District are listed below will continue until age sixty-five (65).

#### 11.2 Notification

Teachers planning to retire must to notify the District no later than March 10th of the school year in which they are planning to retire.

#### 11.3 Qualifications

To be eligible for early retirement, a teacher must be eligible to retire and receive benefits from P.E.R.S., and must have completed nineteen (19) years of teaching of which ten (10) years must have been in service in the Pendleton School District.

#### 11.4 Fringe Benefits

The District shall pay a monthly stipend at the time of retirement to age sixty-five (65), based on the teacher's age at retirement on the following scale:

Retirement at age 51 =	\$255 per month stipend
Retirement at age 52 =	\$285 per month stipend
Retirement at age 53 =	\$315 per month stipend
Retirement at age 54 =	\$340 per month stipend
Retirement at age 55 =	\$370 per month stipend
Retirement at age 56 =	\$400 per month stipend
Retirement at age 57 =	\$455 per month stipend
Retirement at age 58-65 =	\$510 per month stipend

This benefit will be prorated according to the F.T.E. status of the employee at retirement.

#### 11.5 Survivorship

In the event of the retiring teacher's death, the remaining monthly payments shall be paid to an eligible surviving spouse or domestic partner as defined by the district's health care provider. These payments will be spread over the same number of months of eligibility as if the retiree had not died and will continue until the retiring teacher would have reached age sixty-five (65). If there is no surviving spouse or domestic partner, the District's obligation shall be deemed satisfied.

#### 11.6 Commencement of the Program

Teachers who retire will receive the first payment beginning the month following retirement. Teachers retiring at the end of the school year will receive the first payment in September of the following school year. Retirement at the end of the school year will be considered as retirement in August.

#### 11.7 Extended Option

Employees taking early retirement shall have the ability to convert to self paid early retirement coverage under District medical/dental insurance plans through age sixty-five (65) provided such coverage is available through the District's carrier and the employee is eligible at the time of retirement. The employee will be responsible for timely and proper payment of insurance premiums.

## 11.8 Continued Employment after Retirement

It is understood and agreed by the District and the Association that the following conditions shall govern the terms of employment for the retired teachers serving as employees under the hourly limitation established by PERS. Retirees serving as temporary contract teachers shall receive a salary for services as specified by their FTE of service, days of service, and current salary schedule. Retiree employees shall be granted one (1) day of sick leave for each month worked.

The following contract sections do not apply to temporary retiree employees:

Sections:	5.7	Payment of PERS contributions
	5.8	Longevity
	7 (1-2, 4-10)	Fringe Benefits
	8.1 (1-3, 6, 9)	Paid Leaves
	8.2 (1-6)	Leaves Without Pay
	11 (1-6, 8)	Early Retirement
	13	Vacancies and In-district Transfers

#### 11.9 Legislative Impact

The parties acknowledge that the potential exists for legislative action that could impact early retirement eligibility.

#### **ARTICLE 12 - JUST CAUSE**

- 12.1 No teacher shall be disciplined, reprimanded, reduced in rank or compensation, demoted, or transferred for disciplinary reasons without just cause.
- 12.2 Prior to taking action against a teacher, the following rights of due process will be afforded:
  - A. The execution of a formal and written evaluation or statement of charges.
  - B. A conference with the teacher by the appropriate administrator prior to taking any action.
  - C. A written explanation for the action to the teacher and the Association.
  - D. It is understood and agreed that only the procedural aspects of items enumerated within this paragraph shall be subject to the grievance procedure of this Agreement.
- 12.3 Disciplinary proceedings under this Section shall be open only at the option of the teacher.
- 12.4 It is understood and agreed that this Section shall not circumvent the Fair Dismissal Law of the State of Oregon. It is also understood that this Section does not apply to the non-renewal or dismissal of probationary teachers nor to the dismissal or non-renewal of contract teachers who are covered by the Fair Dismissal Law.

#### ARTICLE 13 - VACANCIES AND IN-DISTRICT TRANSFERS

#### 13.1 Vacancies

A vacancy shall be defined as any previously established teaching position that will be refilled or any newly created teaching position.

- A. Vacancies in the teaching staff will be provided by electronic communication. Postings will include position, school and unique requirements for the job if any exist and will remain open for five (5) days for in-district transfers.
- B. Teachers interested in vacancies during the summer may check postings on the district website or district e-mail. The teacher shall have the responsibility of contacting the Human Resources Office indicating his/her interest in a position before the in-district posting deadline.

## 13.2 Voluntary Transfers

- A. Application for voluntary in-district transfers will be accepted as positions open. All district applicants will receive a response regarding disposition of the district's decision, and each will be personally contacted. Upon request the decision will be presented to the teacher in writing.
- B. The application shall set forth the school, grade or position sought, and the applicant's academic qualifications.
- C. The District shall act upon the request within thirty (30) days after the receipt of an employee's request for transfer to an announced position.
- D. In acting on requests for voluntary transfer, the District may consider but not be limited to the following criteria:
  - 1. Highly Qualified Status
  - 2. Seniority in the District
  - 3. In-district and out-of-district experience in the teaching field.
  - 4. Academic preparation for the position.

#### 13.3 Involuntary Transfers

- A. An involuntary transfer refers to an administrative transfer of a teacher to a different building or position.
- B. When a teacher is involuntarily transferred, he/she will have the opportunity to make known in writing to the appropriate administrators his/her wishes regarding a new building or position.
- C. Teachers being involuntarily transferred will be informed of all vacancies known at the time the transfer decision is being considered.
- D. Teachers will indicate in writing to the appropriate administrator their preference of a building or position. When an involuntary transfer is necessary, a teacher's length of service in the

District, teaching field, Highly Qualified status and academic preparation will be considered. Once a decision is rendered, the reason(s) for the decision will be presented to the teacher in writing. Normally, no teacher will be subject to involuntary transferred more than two times in a four year period of time.

- E. When it becomes necessary for a teacher to transfer because of changes in enrollment or program, the Superintendent or appropriate administrator will give the transfer of the unit member priority in filling known vacancies.
- F. Letters of involuntary transfer, excluding those for disciplinary reasons, will be removed from the teacher's personnel file one (1) year after the effective date of transfer if the teacher so requests.
- G. When an employee is transferred to a different building or classroom, the District administration will authorize payment at the high substitute rate for up to 10 hours outside of the contract day to move and set up the new classroom.

#### **ARTICLE 14 - FUNDING**

- 14.1 The parties recognize that revenue needed to fund the compensation provided by this Agreement must be approved by established budget procedures.
- 14.2 The parties agree to meet informally by April 1 of each year to mutually determine if there is a need to reopen negotiations of the economic provisions of this agreement, as defined in Section 5 and Section 7, in the event that sufficient funding is not available to meet contractual economic obligations. If both parties agree, the contract will be reopened for negotiations. If either party disagrees, the contract will not be reopened for negotiations.
- 14.3 The District has no intention of reducing the monetary items in this Agreement because of budgetary limitations, but cannot and does not guarantee any level of employment in the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 15 - STAFF REDUCTION**

- When in the judgment of the District, a reduction in staff is necessary, the following provisions shall apply:
  - A. When the District determines that there is to be a layoff of a probationary or contract professional staff, the Association shall be notified in writing at least one (1) month prior to the effective date of such action. In the event of an emergency, the District will notify the Association upon first knowledge.
  - B. Positions to be eliminated will be determined by Board action. Teachers holding these positions will be considered layoff candidates. Teachers holding positions within the area to be reduced shall be classified by areas of licensure, seniority, and competence. "Competence" means the ability to teach a subject or grade level based on recent teaching experience related to that subject or grade level within the last five years, or educational attainments, or both, but not based solely on being licensed to teach. The District may consider a teacher's willingness to undergo additional training or pursue additional education in deciding upon questions of competence.

- C. All teachers scheduled for layoff will be considered for open positions within the district for which they are licensed and competent to teach. If more than one layoff candidate is eligible for a vacant position, the most senior employee will be retained.
- D. The order of layoffs shall be as follows:
  - 1. Temporary less than half-time teachers, including temporary retiree teachers, shall be laid off before other teachers are laid off.
  - 2. Temporary full-time teachers, including temporary retiree teachers, shall be laid off after temporary less than half-time teachers.
  - 3. Probationary less than half-time teachers shall be laid off only after temporary teachers have been laid off.
  - 4. Probationary full-time teachers shall be laid off only after probationary less than half-time and temporary teachers have been laid off.
  - 5. Contract less than half-time teachers shall be laid off only after temporary and probationary teachers have been laid off.
  - 6. Contract teachers shall be laid off only after temporary, probationary and contract less than half-time teachers have been laid off.
- E. Retention within the above six categories shall be in order of length of unbroken service in the District beginning with the most recent date of hire. The District, may, however, retain an employee with less seniority if that employee is determined to have greater competence than a more senior employee. When the length of unbroken service in the District is equal, retention shall be determined by drawing of lots.
- F. Licensure for the purposes of identifying layoff candidates shall be as registered in each teacher's official personnel file on the date the Reduction In Force is approved by the Board of Directors.
- G. Length of service will be computed from a contract or probationary teacher's first day of unbroken teaching service in the District. Approved leaves of absence will not be considered as an interruption in service. If a teacher resigns and is later re-employed by the District, length of service shall accrue from the first day of the latest period of continuous employment.
- H. Teachers who have been laid off in accordance with the above procedures shall be placed on the District recall list and shall remain eligible for recall for a period of up to twenty-seven (27) months. Teachers shall be recalled to positions for which they are licensed and qualified in reverse order of layoff. "Qualified" shall mean the measurement of the teacher's ability to teach a particular grade level or subject matter in which the teacher is placed after the reduction in force. The District will exhaust the recall list prior to hiring any new employees.
- I. Notice of recall shall be by certified mail to the last address provided to the District by the teacher. The District's obligation to recall a teacher shall expire upon resignation by that teacher, the expiration of the twenty-seven (27) month period, or the refusal of a recall offer

by the teacher. A teacher being offered recall shall have ten (10) days from the date of the receipt of the recall notice in which to notify the District of acceptance of the recall offer. Failure to timely notify the District of acceptance of recall shall be deemed a refusal.

If the recall offer is accepted, the teacher must report for work on the date specified in the notice of recall. The failure to do so shall be deemed a refusal of the recall offer, and the teacher shall be removed from the recall list.

- J. In the event of a reduction of contract or probationary staff, under this Section, the Association will be provided a list of teachers and their length of continuous service with the District.
- K. In the event of recall, layoff shall not constitute an interruption of service.

## ARTICLE 16 - COMPLAINT PROCEDURE

### 16.1 Procedural Requirement

In reacting to any complaint regarding a teacher, unless the complaint is immediately dismissed, the complainant will be told that the teacher has the right to be told the details of such complaint by his/her immediate supervisor and they shall attempt to resolve the matter at that time in an informal manner. Anonymous complaints shall not be considered as grounds for any disciplinary action including dismissal or nonrenewal of a teacher.

#### 16.2 Meeting with Principal or Immediate Supervisor

Within ten (10) working days of the receipt of a complaint, a meeting will be arranged between the teacher and the principal or immediate supervisor. At that meeting, the teacher will be informed of the name of the complainant and the nature of the complaint. The teacher shall be allowed an opportunity to respond to the complaint.

#### 16.3 Meeting with All Parties

If appropriate a meeting will then be arranged with the teacher, complainant and principal or immediate supervisor to mutually work to solve the problem.

#### 16.4 Investigation

In the event that the complaint is not resolved at the meeting set forth in Sections 16.2 or 16.3, the principal/immediate supervisor shall perform any investigation deemed necessary to gather sufficient information to reach a conclusion regarding the complaint. The teacher shall be informed of the results of the investigation.

## 16.5 Right of Appeal

Any disciplinary action taken as a result of a complaint is subject to the just cause provisions of this contract and may be appealed pursuant to the grievance procedure.

#### 16.6 Right of Representation

The teacher shall have the right to be represented by an Association representative at any meeting or conference regarding any complaint.

16.7 The provisions of this Article shall not apply in situations while a complaint is being investigated by law enforcement or an outside agency.

#### ARTICLE 17 - MAINTENANCE OF CLASSROOM CONTROL AND DISCIPLINE

- 17.1 At the beginning of each school year, the building administrator will furnish each staff member with a copy of the school-wide discipline plan which is tailored to meet the needs of that particular building. Any changes made subsequent to that time shall be distributed to the teachers as soon as possible. Such procedures would be in addition to the District's Student Code of Conduct and this section of the collective bargaining agreement.
- When, in the judgment of a teacher, a student is, by the student's behavior, disrupting the instructional program to the detriment of that student and/or others, the teacher will take appropriate action.
- 17.3 Any student removed from class at any time by a teacher shall be directed by such teacher to the appropriate building administrator or designee.
- 17.4 Any teacher referring a student shall, by the end of the teaching day, provide a signed copy of a report to the administrator including a statement of facts, a summary of conditions which led to the student's referral, the steps taken by the teacher to remedy the problem and to motivate the student, and any other steps taken by the teacher prior to referral. The designated administrator and the teacher shall communicate regarding the return of the student and how the issue was resolved.
- 17.5 Upon request, the district will make every effort to provide additional training and protective equipment when the teacher believes a safety issue exists in the classroom.
- 17.6 When there is an incident that results in physical harm to a staff member, a team will write or review an existing safety plan with input from the teacher. When a student has a safety plan it will be shared with staff who have an educational need to know.
- 17.7 When any student, reassigned to the teacher, is again referred for discipline within the same school year, the foregoing procedure shall be repeated provided, however, if persistent disagreement exists, the matter may be appealed to the Superintendent or designee.

#### ARTICLE 18 - CONFIDENTIAL PERSONNEL FILES

- 18.1 A copy of written evaluations shall be submitted to the teacher at the time of personal conference or within ten (10) days thereafter; one (1) copy is to be signed and returned to the administration, the other is to be retained by the teacher. In the event that the teacher feels that an evaluation was incomplete or unjust, the teacher may put objections in writing and have them attached to the evaluation report, to be placed in his/her confidential personnel file with a copy to the Superintendent. The District will follow procedures established pursuant to ORS 342.850 in regard to teacher evaluations.
- 18.2 Each teacher shall have the right, upon request, to review the contents of the teacher's own confidential personnel files exclusive of materials received prior to the date of employment by this district.
- 18.3 A representative of the Association may at the teacher's request accompany the teacher in this review.

- 18.4 The teacher may respond to any item placed in such confidential personnel file and said response shall become a part of said file.
- 18.5 Except for transcripts and teaching certificates, no adverse material shall be placed in a teacher's confidential personnel file unless the teacher has seen and signed it. Provided, however, in the event a teacher refuses to sign it, the material shall be so endorsed by the appropriate administrator in the presence of a witness before being placed in the confidential personnel file. The signature of the teacher shall mean he/she has seen the material, but does not necessarily imply acceptance of same. The teacher shall be furnished a copy of the unsigned documents. Written complaints that do not result in disciplinary action shall not be placed in the teacher's confidential personnel file.
- 18.6 Building administrators may maintain a site file for purposes of evaluation. At the end of each evaluation cycle the full contents of the file will be purged.

#### ARTICLE 19 - WORK YEAR

- 19.1 The school year to be set by the District shall not exceed a maximum of 187 contract days. The 187 contract days shall include the following five (5) paid holidays: Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Memorial Day, and Martin Luther King Day.
- 19.2 The District will distribute to all certificated personnel before the end of the school year the calendar for the following school year which shall include:
  - A. Starting and ending dates
  - B. Paid holidays
  - C. Teacher planning and preparation days
    - 1. In-service (planned district and/or building activities)
    - 2. Teacher workdays (no planned district and/or building activities or requirements)
    - 3. Teachers will have a minimum of an uninterrupted half workday prior to open house
  - D. Days school is in session
- 19.3 The proposed school calendar shall be developed by the Superintendent or designee and presented to the Board of Directors for consideration and formal adoption. The Association will be given an opportunity to review the proposed school calendar and offer comments/suggestions prior to the time it is presented for Board adoption.

#### **ARTICLE 20 - TEACHER RIGHTS**

- 20.1 The private, religious and political life of a teacher is not within the appropriate concern or attention of the Board except as it may directly prevent the teacher from properly performing his/her assigned functions during the workday. Teachers are required to comply with TSPC rules and regulations.
- 20.2 Teachers may use supplemental materials in the classroom providing:
  - A. It is relevant to the class being taught.
  - B. It is appropriate to the maturity and age/grade level of the student; and

C. The material is within the adopted scope and sequence of curriculum guidelines/programs.

#### ARTICLE 21 - PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

- 21.1 The District and the Association recognize the importance of providing continued educational opportunities for the teachers in Pendleton. Therefore, the District may provide workshops and classes during the school year for professional development subject to budgetary limitations and priorities. Workshops and classes requested by the Association will be given consideration when planning the professional development activities of the District.
- 21.2 Pendleton School District Board of Directors directs the superintendent to encourage community involvement in shared decision-making and to foster the collaborative efforts of district personnel, students, parents and community members through the formation of district and building site councils. All councils shall adhere to the guidelines established in House Bill 2991. Duties of all councils shall be set by Board policy in conformance with HB 2991. Site committee licensed teachers shall be paid a \$200 stipend annually. If large projects are undertaken, then a budget shall be submitted to the superintendent for prior approval at the extended contract rate.
- 21.3 A stipend of \$300 will be provided annually for teachers agreeing to serve as a mentor for teachers new to the district.
- 21.4 For staff requiring peer assistance, the District will make a concerted effort to secure a qualified teacher to perform such duties. If a current staff member is agreeable to provide assistance, compensation for the agreed upon number of hours will be at the current year's extended contract rate.
- 21.5 The District will provide for teacher tuition reimbursement annually during the term of the contract, 2025-2028. A total of \$40,000.00 will be available annually. Courses taken from June to May each year may be reimbursed in June if pre-approved on the district pre-approval form and proof of course completion and payment is submitted to the District Office by June 15th. If the requests for reimbursement exceed \$40,000.00, the reimbursements will be prorated.
- 21.6 Discounted credit vouchers earned by members of the bargaining unit will be made available to other members of the unit if not utilized by the employee designated on the voucher by the awarding university.
- 21.7 The District and the Association agree to meet at least annually to review the teacher evaluation system and its implications for professional development.

#### ARTICLE 22 - CLASS SIZE

22.1 Pendleton School District 16R will make every effort to equalize class size across the District, taking into consideration the number of students in each class receiving special education services including TAG students. Should a building teacher have a concern about an inequity of size or composition of comparable classes, the teacher shall have the right to discuss the concern with the building administrator and submit, in writing, their concern. If, following discussion of the concern, there exists further concerns, the teacher may submit in writing their concerns to the central administrator responsible for class size issues, for the purpose of setting a time for a hearing with the administrator to discuss the class size issue. The central administrator will notify the teacher in writing within ten (10) working days following the hearing of his/her resolve of the problem. The decision of the central administrator shall be final. Alleged violations of this article may not be grieved beyond the

superintendent step of the grievance procedure and may not be the basis of an unfair labor practice complaint.

Further, the District agrees that a reasonable guideline to strive for on class size shall be:

Kdg	22 or less
1-3	24 or less
4-6	30 or less
7-12	30 Student contacts per period excluding music,
	PE/wellness and special education

The parties acknowledge that special needs students constitute a special dimension of the classroom teacher's assignment. Building principals will consider this factor when assigning special need students to classes in an effort to balance the assignments of teachers under his/her supervision. Special students should be given a weighted factor when determining the balance of assignments between classroom teachers.

#### ARTICLE- 23 HEALTH AND SAFETY

- 23. 1 The district shall provide and maintain a safe and healthy working environment for all employees consistent with the law, facilities requirements, communicable disease plan, and district policies. The district will address unsafe or hazardous conditions.
- 23.2 For staff designated by the district in order to meet division 22 safety standards, when first aid training is offered outside of the workday, the district will pay employees the high curriculum rate.
- 23.3 The building will follow school nursing regulations for delegated care and emergency protocols including PPE.

#### ARTICLE 24 - SAVINGS CLAUSE

24.1 If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid by operation of law or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with or enforcement of any provision should be restrained by any such tribunal, the remainder of the Agreement shall not be affected thereby, and upon the request of either the District or the Association the parties shall enter into negotiations for the purpose of attempting to arrive at a mutually satisfactory replacement for such provision.

#### ARTICLE 25 - TERM OF AGREEMENT

- 25.1 This Agreement shall be effective as of July 1, 2025, and shall be binding upon the District and the Association and their members, and shall expire June 30, 2028.
- 25.2 The parties acknowledge that, during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter appropriate for collective bargaining, and that the understanding and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Before the Board takes any action which affects wages, hours or any other conditions of employment covered by the collective bargaining act, the Board will notify the Association in writing that it is considering such a change. The Association will have the right to negotiate with the Board using the expedited procedure in O.R.S. 243.698, provided that it files such a request with the Board within fourteen (14) days after receipt of said notice.
- 25.3 Nothing contained herein shall restrict the rights of the parties to enter into collective bargaining at an appropriate time with respect to a successor agreement. Collective bargaining with respect to a successor agreement to this contract shall commence no later than February 1, 2028.

EXECUTION/SIGNATURES	
	025, at Pendleton, Oregon by the undersigned officers by
authority of and on behalf of the Pendleton Distric	t Board and the Pendleton Association of Teachers.
FOR THE ASSOCIATION	FOR THE DISTRICT
	$\Lambda$ $\Lambda$
7 ( )	
Cathloon Walters	
President	Chairman of the Board

## APPENDIX "A" LICENSED SALARY SCHEDULE PENDLETON SCHOOL DISTRICT 16R

	2025-2026	School	Year
--	-----------	--------	------

EXPERIENCE	B.A.	BA + 23 hours	B.A. + 45 hours	M.A. or B.A. + 90 hours	M.A. + 23 or B.A. + 113	M.A. + 45 or B.A. + 135	M.A. + 68 Doctorate B.A. + 158
1	53,127	55,787	58,443	61,098	63,758	66,414	69,068
2	55,518	58,177	60,833	63,489	66,147	68,801	71,458
3	57,910	60,568	63,225	65,880	68,538	71,191	73,850
4	60,302	62,956	65,615	68,270	70,928	73,585	76,239
5	62,692	65,349	68,006	70,664	73,315	75,975	78,632
6	65,082	67,740	70,396	73,051	75,710	78,365	81,023
7	67,473	70,132	72,787	75,441	78,099	80,757	83,414
8	69,866	72,522	75,178	77,838	80,490	83,146	85,804
9	72,257	74,912	77,568	80,225	82,881	85,536	88,196
10	74,647	77,303	79,958	82,614	85,273	87,932	90,584
11	77,037	79,693	82,352	85,006	87,661	90,321	92,975
12	77,037	79,693	84,740	87,399	90,056	92,712	95,369
13	77,037	79,693	84,740	89,788	92,444	95,102	97,758
14	77,037	79,693	84,740	89,788	94,834	97,493	100,147
15	77,037	79,693	84,740	89,788	94,834	99,883	102,539
16	77,037	79,693	84,740	89,788	94,834	99,883	104,928

## LONGEVITY STIPEND

After 10 years	\$155.00 per year
After 15 years	\$395.00 per year
After 20 years	\$552.00 per year
After 25 years	\$748.00 per year
After 30 years	\$986.00 per year

\$947	\$947	\$947				
Step 14	Step 15	Step 16				
LONGEVITY BONUS						

## **LONGEVITY BONUS**

ONE TIME BONUS paid only once during the contract period 2025-2028 and on the final check in the first year of being on one of the three steps.

Pendleton Association of Teachers 2025-2028

## APPENDIX "A" LICENSED SALARY SCHEDULE PENDLETON SCHOOL DISTRICT 16R 2026-2027 School Year

EXPERIENCE	B.A.	BA + 23 hours	B.A. + 45 hours	M.A. or B.A. + 90 hours	M.A. + 23 or B.A. + 113	M.A. + 45 or B.A. + 135	M.A. + 68 Doctorate B.A. + 158
1	55,252	58,018	60,781	63,542	66,308	69,071	71,831
2	57,739	60,504	63,266	66,029	68,793	71,553	74,316
3	60,226	62,991	65,754	68,515	71,280	74,039	76,804
4	62,714	65,474	68,240	71,001	73,765	76,528	79,289
5	65,200	67,963	70,726	73,491	76,248	79,014	81,777
6	67,685	70,450	73,212	75,973	78,738	81,500	84,264
7	70,172	72,937	75,698	78,459	81,223	83,987	86,751
8	72,661	75,423	78,185	80,952	83,710	86,472	89,236
9	75,147	77,908	80,671	83,434	86,196	88,957	91,724
10	77,633	80,395	83,156	85,919	88,684	91,449	94,207
11	80,118	82,881	85,646	88,406	91,167	93,934	96,694
12	80,118	82,881	88,130	90,895	93,658	96,420	99,184
13	80,118	82,881	88,130	93,380	96,142	98,906	101,668
14	80,118	82,881	88,130	93,380	98,627	101,393	104,153
15	80,118	82,881	88,130	93,380	98,627	103,878	106,641
16	80,118	82,881	88,130	93,380	98,627	103,878	109,125

|--|

 After 10 years
 \$161.00 per year

 After 15 years
 \$411.00 per year

 After 20 years
 \$574.00 per year

 After 25 years
 \$778.00 per year

 After 30 years
 \$1025.00 per year

\$985	\$985	\$985			
Step 14	Step 15	Step 16			
LONGEVITY BONUS					

## **LONGEVITY BONUS**

ONE TIME BONUS paid only once during the contract period 2025-2028 and on the final check in the first year of being on one of the three steps.

## APPENDIX "A" LICENSED SALARY SCHEDULE PENDLETON SCHOOL DISTRICT 16R 2027-2028 School Year

EXPERIENCE	B.A.	BA + 23 hours	B.A. + 45 hours	M.A. or B.A. + 90 hours	M.A. + 23 or B.A. + 113	M.A. + 45 or B.A. + 135	M.A. + 68 Doctorate B.A. + 158
1	57,462	60,339	63,212	66,084	68,960	71,834	74,704
2	60,049	62,924	65,797	68,670	71,545	74,415	77,289
3	62,635	65,511	68,384	71,256	74,131	77,001	79,876
4	65,223	68,093	70,970	73,841	76,716	79,589	82,461
5	67,808	70,682	73,555	76,431	79,298	82,175	85,048
6	70,392	73,268	76,140	79,012	81,888	84,760	87,635
7	72,979	75,854	78,726	81,597	84,472	87,346	90,221
8	75,567	78,440	81,312	84,190	87,058	89,931	92,805
9	78,153	81,024	83,898	86,771	89,644	92,515	95,393
10	80,738	83,611	86,482	89,356	92,231	95,107	97,975
11	83,323	86,196	89,072	91,942	94,814	97,691	100,562
12	83,323	86,196	91,655	94,531	97,404	100,277	103,151
13	83,323	86,196	91,655	97,115	99,988	102,862	105,735
14	83,323	86,196	91,655	97,115	102,572	105,449	108,319
15	83,323	86,196	91,655	97,115	102,572	108,033	110,907
16	83,323	86,196	91,655	97,115	102,572	108,033	113,490

	LONGEVITY	<b>STIPEND</b>
--	-----------	----------------

 After 10 years
 \$167.00 per year

 After 15 years
 \$427.00 per year

 After 20 years
 \$597.00 per year

 After 25 years
 \$809.00 per year

 After 30 years
 \$1066.00 per year

\$1024	\$1024	\$1024		
Step 14	Step 15	Step 16		
LONGEVITY BONUS				

## **LONGEVITY BONUS**

ONE TIME BONUS paid only once during the contract period 2025-2028 and on the final check in the first year of being on one of the three steps.

## APPENDIX "B" EXTRA DUTY SCHEDULE 2025-2026 SCHOOL YEAR

2.5% Increase over 2024-2025

	1	I	1
Schedule A		Schedule B	
PHS Head Football PHS Head Boys Basketball PHS Head Boys Wrestling PHS Head Baseball PHS Head Girls Wrestling PHS Head Girls Wrestling PHS Head Girls Volleyball PHS Leadership Coordinator PHS Head Track PHS Head Softball PHS Head Dance PHS Catering Manager	\$9,208	PHS Head Boys Tennis PHS Head Girls Tennis PHS FFA (2) – 1 Position M98 PHS Head Swimming PHS Head Cross Country PHS Head Boys Golf PHS Head Girls Golf PHS Head Girls Soccer PHS Head Girls Soccer	\$7,754
Schedule C		Schedule D	
Drama Director PHS Cheerleader Advisor Assistant Coaches (2 Dance, 2 Wrestling) PHS/Middle School Chorus PHS/Middle School Band PHS/Middle School Orchestra	\$5,815	Assistant Coaches (*9 Football, 6 Track)  * 8 District paid and 1 paid via donation	\$4,847
Schedule E		Schedule F	
Middle School Leadership Coordinator Assistant Coaches (3 Volleyball, 3 Girls/Boys Basketball, 3 Softball, 3 Baseball) District Library Coordinator Outdoor School Coordinator Elementary Strings Link Crew Coordinator PHS Culinary Arts PHS FBLA Advisor	\$3,877	Senior High Yearbook Assistant Coaches (2 Girls/Boys Soccer, 2 Cross Country, 2 Swim, 1 Girls Tennis) PHS National Honor Society Advisor Middle School Athletic Director Middle School Coaches ** PHS Robotics SMS Robotics	\$2,908
Schedule G			
Middle School Yearbook Outdoor School Participants (each person) Middle School Drama	\$1,938		

<sup>\*</sup>Extra duty contracts will be paid during the assignment or monthly if the assignment is year-long.

All certified staff that fill positions listed on the Extra Duty Schedule will be paid for those positions, provided the program is funded. The District retains the right to eliminate a program due to funding problems.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Head Middle School Coaches will receive an additional \$250.

# APPENDIX "B" EXTRA DUTY SCHEDULE 2026-2027 SCHOOL YEAR

2% Increase over 2025-2026

Schedule A		Schedule B	
PHS Head Football PHS Head Boys Basketball PHS Head Boys Wrestling PHS Head Baseball PHS Head Girls Wrestling PHS Head Girls Basketball PHS Head Girls Volleyball PHS Head Girls Volleyball PHS Leadership Coordinator PHS Head Track PHS Head Softball PHS Head Dance PHS Catering Manager	\$9,392	PHS Head Boys Tennis PHS Head Girls Tennis PHS FFA (2) – 1 Position M98 PHS Head Swimming PHS Head Cross Country PHS Head Boys Golf PHS Head Girls Golf PHS Head Boys Soccer PHS Head Girls Soccer	\$7,909
Schedule C  Drama Director PHS Cheerleader Advisor Assistant Coaches (2 Dance, 2 Wrestling) PHS/Middle School Chorus PHS/Middle School Band PHS/Middle School Orchestra	\$5,931	Schedule D  Assistant Coaches (*9 Football, 6 Track)  * 8 District paid and 1 paid via donation	\$4,944
Schedule E  Middle School Leadership Coordinator Assistant Coaches (3 Volleyball, 3 Girls/Boys Basketball, 3 Softball, 3 Baseball) District Library Coordinator Outdoor School Coordinator Elementary Strings Link Crew Coordinator PHS Culinary Arts PHS FBLA Advisor	\$3,955	Schedule F  Senior High Yearbook Assistant Coaches (2 Girls/Boys Soccer, 2 Cross Country, 2 Swim, 1 Girls Tennis) PHS National Honor Society Advisor Middle School Athletic Director Middle School Coaches ** PHS Robotics SMS Robotics	\$2,966
Schedule G  Middle School Yearbook Outdoor School Participants (each person) Middle School Drama	\$1,977		

<sup>\*</sup>Extra duty contracts will be paid during the assignment or monthly if the assignment is year-long.

All certified staff that fill positions listed on the Extra Duty Schedule will be paid for those positions, provided the program is funded. The District retains the right to eliminate a program due to funding problems.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Head Middle School Coaches will receive an additional \$250.

# APPENDIX "B" EXTRA DUTY SCHEDULE 2027-2028 SCHOOL YEAR

2% Increase over 2026-2027

		<u></u>	
Schedule A		Schedule B	
PHS Head Football PHS Head Boys Basketball PHS Head Boys Wrestling PHS Head Baseball PHS Head Girls Wrestling PHS Head Girls Basketball PHS Head Girls Volleyball PHS Leadership Coordinator PHS Head Track PHS Head Softball PHS Head Dance PHS Catering Manager	\$9,580	PHS Head Boys Tennis PHS Head Girls Tennis PHS FFA (2) – 1 Position M98 PHS Head Swimming PHS Head Cross Country PHS Head Boys Golf PHS Head Girls Golf PHS Head Girls Soccer PHS Head Girls Soccer	\$8,067
Schedule C		Schedule D	
Drama Director PHS Cheerleader Advisor Assistant Coaches (2 Dance, 2 Wrestling) PHS/Middle School Chorus PHS/Middle School Band PHS/Middle School Orchestra	\$6,050	Assistant Coaches (*9 Football, 6 Track)  * 8 District paid and 1 paid via donation	\$5,043
Schedule E		Schedule F	
Middle School Leadership Coordinator Assistant Coaches (3 Volleyball, 3 Girls/Boys Basketball, 3 Softball, 3 Baseball) District Library Coordinator Outdoor School Coordinator Elementary Strings Link Crew Coordinator PHS Culinary Arts PHS FBLA Advisor	\$4,034	Senior High Yearbook Assistant Coaches (2 Girls/Boys Soccer, 2 Cross Country, 2 Swim, 1 Girls Tennis) PHS National Honor Society Advisor Middle School Athletic Director Middle School Coaches ** PHS Robotics SMS Robotics	\$3,025
Schedule G			
Middle School Yearbook Outdoor School Participants (each person) Middle School Drama	\$2,017		

<sup>\*</sup>Extra duty contracts will be paid during the assignment or monthly if the assignment is year-long.

All certified staff that fill positions listed on the Extra Duty Schedule will be paid for those positions, provided the program is funded. The District retains the right to eliminate a program due to funding problems.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Head Middle School Coaches will receive an additional \$250.

## APPENDIX C GRIEVANCE FORM

Name	Address	Home Phone
Building	Address	Phone
Grievance Representativ	ve (if known):	
		n a complaint by an employer or group of of inequitable application of any provisions of the
Please state explicitly th	e date the grievance occurred, the i	nature and extent of the problem:
Please state present poli-	cy, rule or regulation in the school	district:
Other person qualified to	o provide additional information re	lative to the problem:
What decision would yo	u believe is fair?	
What steps have been ta	ken so far in trying to resolve the g	rievance?
Date		